RECEIVED
Jan 26 2021
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000723

James R. Zedosky, Lenore K. Zedosky, Douglas Shea, and Sally Shea..... Respondents,
v.
D.R. Horton, Inc. and Town of Blythewood..... Defendants,
Of Which D.R. Horton, Inc. is..... Appellant,
And Town of Blythewood is a..... Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

January 26, 2021

s/Roy Shelley

T. McRoy Shelley, III (SC Bar No. 007067)
Rogers Townsend & Thomas, PC
1221 Main Street, 14th Floor (29201)
Post Office Box 100200
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-3200
Direct: 803-744-1818

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT IN THE PLAINTIFFS' HOME PURCHASE AGREEMENTS WERE NOT APPLICABLE TO THE COMPLAINT.
 - A. The evidence in the record does not reasonably support the conclusion the Home Purchase Agreements do not relate in any manner to the claims of the Respondents.
- II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT IN THE HOME PURCHASE AGREEMENTS WAS UNENFORCEABLE UNDER AND NOT GOVERNED BY EITHER THE SOUTH CAROLINA OR THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACTS.
 - A. South Carolina precedent holds that federal arbitration law supersedes any conflicting South Carolina law which invalidates an arbitration agreement; therefore, the agreements in question are enforceable under and governed by federal and state arbitration law.
- III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THE CLAIMS BETWEEN PLAINTIFFS AND RESPONDENT WERE NOT SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION UNDER THE RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS
 - A. The South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act controls what relief is available with arbitration, whether an indispensable party can be required to participate in arbitration, and the judicial economy of arbitration. The SCUAA is designed to support a finding in favor of arbitration under each of these prongs.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

James R. Zedosky, Lenore K. Zedosky, Douglas Shea and Sally Shea (“Respondents”) brought this action by filing a Summons and Complaint on July 25, 2017. The Complaint alleges they purchased real property subject to certain restrictive covenants and further alleges D.R. Horton, Inc. intends to subdivide real property, which is adjacent and contiguous to the Respondents’ properties, into residential lots and roads in violation of those restrictive covenants.

Respondents also filed a Notice of Motion and Motion for Preliminary Injunction on July 25, 2017. Affidavits of the four Respondents were filed simultaneously in support thereof. The Verification of the Complaint, executed by Respondent Lenore K. Zedosky, was also filed on July 25, 2017. Appellant's Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration was filed on September 7, 2017. The Affidavit of Robert Haney was filed 2/13/18 for the motion hearing in support thereof. Appellant D. R. Horton, Inc., filed its Answer and Cross-Claim against Town of Blythewood on September 8, 2017.

D.R. Horton, Inc.'s Motion to Stay and to Compel Arbitration was heard on February 15, 2018, and the Order denying the motion was entered on March 1, 2018. D.R. Horton, Inc. filed a Motion to Alter, Amend or Reconsider the Order on March 9, 2018. An Order Denying Motion to Alter or Amend was filed on March 22, 2018. On April 19, 2018, D.R. Horton, Inc. filed and served its Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

While it is the Appellant's position the Circuit Court erred in several ways in denying its Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration, the overarching issue in this appeal is whether the Circuit Court erred in determining that the dispute between the Respondents and Appellant is not to subject to the arbitration agreement provision included in the Homeowner Purchase Agreements ("HPAs") executed by the Respondents and Appellant. All the sections of Argument come back to and center on this one issue; these are the facts relevant to that issue alone.¹

¹ It is the Appellant's position that, other than reference to the Greenway space and Paragraph 22 of the HPAs, it is unnecessary in this appeal to present a lengthy and convoluted detail of all the various sections of all the applicable Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions ("CCRs" or "restrictive covenants"). This brief shall focus primarily on the HPAs and the arbitration agreement included therein. Appellant respectfully reserves the right to include such factual detail

On April 26, 2015, Respondents James R. Zedosky and Lenore K. Zedosky entered into a Home Purchase Agreement (“HPA”) with Appellant D.R. Horton to purchase from Appellant, as Seller, a specific “parcel of land, located in Richland County, SC, with a street address of 334 Summersweet Court, Blythewood, SC, 29016, more particularly described as Lot 0175, Cobblestone Primrose Subdivision... . The interests to be conveyed pursuant to this Agreement are hereinafter collectively referred to as the ‘Property.’” (R. 27; emphasis added.) Paragraph 6 of the HPA is entitled “Warranty of Title” and states, in relevant part:

“Seller shall convey insurable fee simple title of the Property at Purchaser at Closing by special or limited warranty deed, subject to: ... (c) subdivision covenants, conditions, and restrictions...” (R. 28).

Home Purchase Agreement Paragraph 14, subsection (a), grants a minimum 10-year structural warranty of the residence located on the Property, said warranty to be provided “by and from the Residential Warranty Corporation or such other national warranty provider as Seller may reasonably select (the “NWP”).” (R. 31). This warranty section is separate from the paragraph on Mandatory Binding Arbitration.

Paragraph 22 of the HPA addresses and incorporates restrictive covenants. It states, in relevant part:

“Purchaser acknowledges receipt of a copy of that Declarations of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for Cobblestone Primrose Subdivision of record at **Book 1117 Page 3721**, Country Registry, together with all amendments thereto

in any reply or oral argument, to the extent Respondents raise or argue this history in this appeal. Additionally, Appellant craves reference to its Answer for its formal responses to Respondents’ Complaint, with particular regard to the history of the development and the CCRs.

(collectively, the “Declaration”). *Purchaser acknowledges that the Property is subject to all provisions of the Declaration, including but not limited to provisions requiring membership*” (R. 34; emphases except italics in original)

Paragraph 15 of the HPA addresses Mandatory Binding Arbitration. It states, in its entirety:

“Mandatory Binding Arbitration. PURCHASER AND SELLER SHALL SUBMIT TO BINDING ARBITRATION ANY AND ALL DISPUTES WHICH MAY ARISE BETWEEN THEM REGARDING THIS CONTRACT AND/OR THIS PROPERTY, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ANY DISPUTES REGARDING (A) SELLER’S CONSTRUCTION AND DELIVERY OF THE HOME; (B) SELLER’S PERFORMANCE UNDER ANY PUNCH LIST OR INSPECTION AGREEMENT; AND (C) SELLER’S WARRANTY PURSUANT TO SECTION 14 ABOVE. THE ARBITRATION SHALL TAKE PLACE IN THE COUNTY IN WHICH THE PROPERTY IS LOCATED. THE PROCEEDING SHALL BE CONDUCTED PURSUANT TO THE RULES OF THE AMERICAN ARBITRATION ASSOCIATION (THE “AAA”), AND TO THE EXTENT POSSIBLE, UNDER RULES WHICH PROVIDE FOR AN EXPEDITED HEARING. THE FILING FEE FOR THE ARBITRATION SHALL BE PAID BY THE PARTY FILING THE ARBITRATION DEMAND, BUT THE ARBITRATOR SHALL HAVE THE RIGHT TO ASSESS OR ALLOCATE FILING FEES AND ANY OTHER COSTS OF THE ARBITRATION AS A PART OF THE ARBITRATOR’S FINAL ORDER. THE ARBITRATION SHALL BE BINDING AND FINAL, AND EITHER PARTY SHALL HAVE THE RIGHT TO SEEK JUDICIAL ENFORCEMENT OF THE ARBITRATION AWARD. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER PROVISION HEREIN, ANY DISPUTES ARISING UNDER THE STRUCTURAL WARRANTY PROVIDED TO PURCHASES BY THE NWP SHALL BE MEDIATED, ARBITRATED

AND/OR JUDICIALLY RESOLVED PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF THAT WARRANTY PROGRAM.” (R. 32; All caps in original).

Finally, the entire Home Purchase Agreement begins with the following:

“NOTE: THIS CONTRACT PROVIDES FOR MANDATORY BINDING ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNIFORM ARBITRATION ACT, SECTIONS 14-48-10 [sic] ET SEQ, SOUTH CAROLINA CODE OF LAWS (1976, AS AMENDED)”

(R. 27; Bold, all caps, underline all in the original).

The Zedoskys’ HPA was executed by them on April 26, 2015. (R. 35). Their mailing address on the HPA is 1553 Mt. Vernon Road, Charleston, West Virginia 25314. *Id.* D.R. Horton also executed the HPA, as Seller, on April 27, 2015. *Id.* D.R. Horton’s address on the HPA is 8001 Arrowridge Blvd., Charlotte, North Carolina 28273. *Id.* The Zedoskys’ phone number begins with area code (304). *Id.* The Zedoskys each initialed all pages 1 – 8 of the HPA, with page 9 containing their signatures. (R. 27 - 35).

The Home Purchase Agreement executed by the Shea Respondents is exactly the same as quoted above, including the arbitration agreement and Paragraph 22 referencing the restrictive covenants, except for the following information specific to the Sheas:

Purchasers: Douglas Shea and Sally Shea (R. 36);

Property address: 392 Summersweet Court, Blythewood, SC, Lot 0187, Cobblestone Primrose Subdivision (R. 36);

Executed on page 9 by Douglas Shea and Sally Shea on August 17, 2014. Mr. and Mrs. Shea each initialed pages 1 – 8 of the HPA (R. 44);

Sheas' then-current address: 155 Woodfield Rd., Bristol, Connecticut, 06010. The Sheas' phone numbers all begin with area code (203) (R. 44);

D.R. Horton's address: 8001 Arrowridge Blvd., Charlotte, North Carolina 28273 (R. 44).

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The determination whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed *de novo*. Nevertheless, a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports the findings.”

Parsons v. John Wieland Homes and Neighborhoods of the Carolinas, Inc., 418 S.C. 1, 6, 791 S.E.2d 128, 130 (S.C. 2016) (citations in original omitted).

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT IN THE PLAINTIFFS’ HOME PURCHASE AGREEMENTS WERE NOT APPLICABLE TO THE COMPLAINT.

A. The evidence in the record does not reasonably support the conclusion the Home Purchase Agreements do not relate in any manner to the claims of the Respondents.

In its Order dated February 27, 2018, the circuit court stated:

“The ‘property’ which is the subject of the separate Agreements is, by definition in those Agreements, the homes which the Plaintiffs were each purchasing.²

² At various points in Respondents’ pleadings and statements, they use the word “property” to refer to the Greenway space at issue, rather than as it should be properly used as to mean the home, real estate, and all other interests purchased by each Respondent as the “Property” under the HPAs. Appellant will insert either “woodlands” or “Greenway Space”, to distinguish from the Respondents’ Properties, and make clear which parcel of land is being discussed.

Therefore, the arbitration provision in the Agreements only applies to disputes concerning the respective contracts and the respective residences which the Plaintiffs purchased from Horton.” (R. 4).

But the definition of “Property” in the HPAs is broader and includes more than just the house and the land upon which it sits. “Property” is also defined to include “the interests,” such as warranties, clear title, restrictive covenants, which are part and parcel to the overall purchase. This is one reason why the Appellant disputes the remainder of the paragraph in the circuit court Order:

“The lawsuit before the Court involves neither the contract nor the properties which the Plaintiffs purchased. It involves the intended development and change of use of an entirely separate parcel of land which abuts Plaintiffs’ residences. Therefore, Horton’s reliance upon the arbitration provision in the Agreements is misplaced.” (R. 4).

The Appellant D.R. Horton disputes this conclusion by the circuit court. It is Appellant’s position the circuit court failed to utilize or abide by the legal standards in determining if a contractual arbitration agreement applies to a dispute. A *de novo* review of the record will demonstrate the dispute does involve both the HPAs and Respondents’ properties, and not simply a parcel of land wholly unrelated to the Plaintiffs’ HPAs.

The opinion of *Wilson v. Wills*, 416 S.C. 395, 786 S.E.2d 571 (Ct.App. 2015) is instructive in determining whether an arbitration agreement provision encompasses the dispute at issue. In *Wilson*, the plaintiffs, who were insureds and also competing agents, sued a number of insurance companies and their agents, alleging failure to supervise and numerous fraudulent and improper tactics including forging of applications. The defendant insurance companies moved to compel enforcement of the arbitration clause in its 2010 Agency Agreement with the agents. The insurers based their motion on the fact plaintiffs’ causes of action were premised on alleged duties of the agents which would not have existed but for the insurance companies’ contractual relationship with the agency and agents. *Wilson*, 416 S.C. at 415, 786 S.E.2d at 581. The insurance companies’ argument was that the insureds could not rely on and seek damages from the insurance companies

based upon some provisions while simultaneously ignoring the arbitration clause. The insureds and the agents asserted no valid or enforceable agreement to arbitrate existed because the 2010 Agency Agreement upon which the insurers based their motion was not signed by any representative of the defendant insurance agency, as well as the fact the insureds were not signatories to the 2010 Agency Agreement.

The Court of Appeals held the circuit court erred in ruling “no valid contract containing an arbitration provision existed between the parties.” 416 S.C. at 408, 786 S.E.2d at 577. The Court of Appeals agreed with the insurance companies’ argument that “no requirement exists under the Federal Arbitration Act or in contract law that a contract must be signed by all parties to be enforceable.” 416 S.C. at 409, 786 S.E.2d at 578. The Court of Appeals held that South Carolina law does not necessarily require both parties to sign a contract for it to be enforceable; “it may be sufficient if signed by one and accepted and acted upon by the other.”³ 416 S.C. at 410-411, 786 S.E.2d at 579. The Court held that the defendant agents, whose improper behavior the plaintiffs alleged was not sufficiently supervised by the insurance companies, accepted and acted upon the 2010 Agency Agreement at all times alleged. *Id.*

The insurers then argued the circuit court erred in determining the plaintiffs’ claims had no relation to, and were not in connection with, the performance or interpretation of the 2010 Agency Agreement. The Court of Appeals agreed.

First, the Court of Appeals cited the deference arbitration agreements are to receive when they are in review:

“The policy of the United States and South Carolina is to favor arbitration of disputes. The heavy presumption of arbitrability requires that[,] when the scope of the arbitration clause is open to question, a court must decide the question in favor of arbitration. A motion to compel arbitration made pursuant to an arbitration clause

³ The *Wilson* court also found the insureds were “equitably estopped from arguing their status as non-signatories precludes enforcement of the arbitration provision when their complaints seek to benefit from the enforcement of other provisions in the 2010 Agency Agreement.” 416 S.C. at 416-419, 786 S.E.2d at 582-583.

in a written contract should only be denied where the clause is not susceptible to any interpretation which would cover the asserted dispute.”

Wilson, 416 S.C. at 413, 786 S.E.2d at 580 (emphasis added).

This deference being the background, the standard of determining the applicability of an arbitration agreement to any particular dispute was then detailed:

“To decide whether an arbitration agreement encompasses a dispute, a court must determine whether the factual allegations underlying the claim are within the scope of the broad arbitration clause, regardless of the label assigned to the claim. Any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

The policy to favor arbitration is so strong, a finding by the court that a claim is outside the scope of the arbitration clause does not end the court’s required inquiry.

“Both the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit and our supreme court ‘have held that the sweeping language of broad arbitration clauses applies to disputes in which a significant relation exists between the asserted claims and the contract in which the arbitration clause is contained.’ Thus, a claim falls within the scope of an arbitration clause if it is encompassed by the language of the clause or if a ‘significant relationship’ exists between the claim and the contract.”

416 S.C. at 413 - 414, 786 S.E.2d at 580 (emphasis added).

In *Wilson*, the arbitration provision in question read as follows:

“If any dispute or disagreement arises in connection with the interpretation of the Agreement, its performance or nonperformance, its termination, the figures and calculations used[,] or any nonpayment of accounts, the parties will make efforts to meet and settle their dispute in good faith informally. If the parties cannot agree on a written settlement..., then the matter in controversy, upon request of either party, will be settled by arbitration... .”

416 S.C. at 414, 786 S.E.2d at 580-581 (italics in original; underline added).

The Court of Appeals held the arbitration provision “was sufficiently broad to encompass a wide array of claims and should be construed accordingly.” 416 S.C. at 414, 786 S.E.2d at 582. It reasoned the next step in the analysis was: “[i]n broadly construing the arbitration provision, we must determine whether the claims against the Insurers are encompassed by the language of the arbitration clause or if the claims bear a significant relationship to the 2010 Agency Agreement.” 416 S.C. at 415, 786 S.E.2d at 581. The Court of Appeals accepted the Insurers’ assertion that the Insureds’ and Agents’ claims were ‘inextricably linked” to the Insurers’ duties to train, supervise, audit, investigate, but then went further to give examples of how the claims were actually linked to each duty as outlined in the Agency Agreement and as compared to the allegations made by the plaintiffs. In the matter currently before this Court, a comparison of the court filings and other evidence properly before the circuit court shows without reservation that the Respondent Homeowners’ claims are “inextricably linked” to the contractual HPAs and that the properties purchased by the Respondents are indeed “involved.”

The arbitration agreement provision in the HPAs reads, in relevant part:

PURCHASER AND SELLER SHALL SUBMIT TO BINDING ARBITRATION
ANY AND ALL DISPUTES WHICH MAY ARISE BETWEEN THEM
REGARDING THIS CONTRACT AND/OR THIS PROPERTY, (e.g., R. 41).

Compare this language to the language analyzed by the *Wilson* court (“If any dispute or disagreement arises in connection with ... the Agreement... .”). These two phrases are on par in nature and scope. The HPA arbitration agreement clause is unambiguously intended to be so broad as to capture any dispute connected with either the HPA or the property (the homeowners’ homes and real property), or both simultaneously. The language following the word “property” is “including but not limited to.” This language is clarifying – what follows are *examples*, not limitations, of the types of disputes that would be encompassed by the provision. The circuit court’s Order employed the definitions of “property” and “contract” and the language of the HPA

arbitration agreement so that it appears the arbitration agreement is limited to claims involving construction, workmanship, delivery, and warranty, to the exclusion of the remainder of the HPA. This is error, and there is no evidence to support this result. In fact, to the contrary.

An in-depth review of the Respondents' pleadings shows clearly that the Respondents' claims involve both the HPAs' contractual provision regarding the restrictive covenants found at ¶ 22 of the HPAs, and the "Property" purchased under them. (e.g., R. 43).

The Complaint itself triggers the application of the arbitration provision. Plaintiffs allege they are "owners of property located in ... Cobblestone Park." (R. 12). The Respondents allege they "each purchased their respective properties subject to certain restrictive covenants..." (R. 13)

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