THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 15 2021**

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

**SC Court of Appeals**

Appellate Case No. 2018-000723

James R. Zedosky, Lenore K. Zedosky, Douglas Shea, and Sally Shea.....Respondents,

v.

D.R. Horton, Inc, and Town of Blythewood.....Defendants,

Of Which, D.R. Horton, Inc, is .....Appellant,

AND Town of Blythewood is a.....Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS JAMES R. ZEDOSKY, LENORE K. ZEDOSKY,  
DOUGLAS SHEA AND SALLY SHEA**

---

Brian C. Gambrell (SC Bar # 68253)  
THE LAW OFFICES OF JASON E. TAYLOR, P.C.  
2000 Park Street, Suite 102  
Columbia, SC 29201

## ARGUMENT

### **I. CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THE INSTANT ACTION WAS NOT SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION PROVISION OF PURCHASE CONTRACT.**

The Circuit Court correctly ruled the Respondents' purchase contract did not require arbitration of a separate dispute with Appellant.

In order to compel arbitration, a moving party must demonstrate the following: "(1) the existence of a dispute between the parties, (2) a written agreement that includes an arbitration provision which purports to cover the dispute, (3) the relationship of the transaction, which is evidenced by the agreement, to interstate or foreign commerce, and (4) the failure, neglect or refusal of the nonmoving party to arbitrate the dispute." Am. Gen. Life & Accident Ins. Co. v. Wood, 429 F.3d 83, 87 (4th Cir. 2005)

"An arbitration clause is a contractual term, and general rules of contract interpretation must be applied to determine a clause's applicability to a particular dispute." Towles v. United HealthCare Corp., 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct.App.1999). An agreement to submit a claim or claims to arbitration is governed by general contract principles. Perry v. Thomas, 482 U.S. 483, 492 n. 9 (1987). Arbitration rests on the agreement of the parties, and the range of issues that can be arbitrated is restricted by the terms of the agreement; a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed to submit. Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs., 346 S.C. 580, 596–97, 553 S. E.2d 110, 118 (2001).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has traditionally considered whether a "significant relationship" exists between the claims asserted and the contract in which the arbitration clause is contained. Parsons v. John Wieland Homes & Neighborhoods of the Carolinas, Inc., 418 S.C. 1, 15, 791 S.E.2d 128, 135 (2016). In order to decide whether an arbitration agreement encompasses

a dispute, the court must determine whether the factual allegations underlying the claim fall within the scope of the arbitration clause, regardless of the label assigned to the claim. Zabinski, 346 S.C. at 597, 553 S.E.2d at 118. In its evaluation of whether a cause of action falls within the scope of an agreement to arbitrate, a court must determine whether the particular claim is so interwoven with the contract that it could not stand alone. Id., at 597 n. 4, 553 S.E.2d at 119 n. 4. If the claim is completely independent of the contract and could be maintained without reference to the contract, the claim is not arbitrable. Id.

Contrary to the assertions of the Appellants, the home purchase agreements (HPA) signed by Respondents do not form the basis for the Respondents' action. A plain reading of the arbitration clause in the HPA shows it applies in only two particular circumstances: "this" contract (the HPA) and "the property." The term "property" is a term defined by the HPA in paragraph 1 as "the lot" with "all improvements" and various mineral/water/gas rights under the subsurface. (R. pp. 0027) The HPA does not support Appellant's attempt to broaden the definition to include all property within the Association.

The HPA also makes no reference to the promises made by a salesperson or the particular covenant that Respondents seek to enforce. Paragraph 24 of the HPA contains a merger clause which states, "No representation, statement, promise or inducement shall be binding upon either party hereto unless specifically stated in this Agreement." (R. pp. 0034) Thus, the basis of Respondents' action is independent of the HPA and not subject to the arbitration clause.

The basis for Respondents' action against Appellants are the promises contained within the Restrictive Covenants which govern the property within the entirety of The Farms portion of Cobblestone Park (of which Respondents' homes are only a part) and the various amendments to those covenants. Respondents have relied upon these three specific provisions:

1. The Property is subject to restrictive covenants entitled Supplement III to Declaration of Restrictions, Easements, Liens and Charges, "The Farm" recorded in the Richland County Register of Deeds on January 14, 2000 in Book R377 at page 278 ("Farm CCRs") which limit the Property to development of a Nine (9) hole golf course. Barring development as a Nine (9) hole golf course, Farm CCRs provide that the Property is perpetually to remain a green way.

2. The restrictions contained in the Farm CCRs were restated as part of the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for Cobblestone Park recorded on September 15, 2005 in the Richland County Register of Deed in Book R1098 at page 3647. ("Cobblestone Park CCRs"). The Cobblestone Park CCRs further provide that the Cobblestone Park CCRs may be amended only with written consent of the majority of the existing owners whose rights are materially affected by such amendment.

3. The aforementioned restrictions and limitations on amendment to said restrictions were once again affirmed in the First Amendment and Restated Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for Cobblestone Park and Supplemental Declaration recorded in the Richland County Register of Deeds on November 5, 2005 in Book R117 at page 3721 ("First Amendment to Cobblestone Park CCRs").

(R. pp. 0017- 0024)

Contrary to Appellant's argument, the HPA did not make the Restrictive Covenants applicable to the Respondents because the HPA did not confer title to the land. It is the chain of title and a deed, not a purchase agreement that makes the covenants applicable to a particular piece of property. Windham v. Riddle, 381 S.C. 192, 201, 672 S.E.2d 578, 582–83 (2009); Santoro v. Schulthess, 384 S.C. 250, 270–71, 681 S.E.2d 897, 907–08 (Ct. App. 2009); Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 362, 628 S.E.2d 902, 913 (Ct. App. 2006). The covenants, and, in particular, the Greenway Covenant, apply to Respondents independent of the existence of the HPA. Restrictive covenants are voluntary contracts that "run with title to land." Harbison Community Ass'n v. Mueller, 319 S.C. 99, 459 S.E.2d 860, 862–863 (Ct.App.1995).

## II. THE INSTANT ACTION FALLS WITHIN AN EXCEPTION TO THE ARBITRATION CLAUSE OF THE RESTRICTIVE COVENANT.

The trial court correctly held the Town of Blythewood is an indispensable party to the instant action and thus, this matter is exempt for arbitration as provided under the applicable restrictive covenants.

Paragraphs 14.1 and 14.3 along with Exhibit C of the First Amended and Restated Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for Cobblestone Park and Supplemental Declaration provide for arbitration of disputes except as to “Exempt Claims” which are defined in Paragraph 14.2. (R. pp. 0316-0317) Paragraph 14.2 provides in relevant part:

### 14.2 Exempt Claims.

The following Claims (“Exempt Claims”) are exempt from the provisions of 14.3:

- (iv) any suit in which an indispensable party is not a Bound Party:

(R. pp. 0317)

This covenant does not define “indispensable party.” The parties and the trial court have applied the definition of “indispensable party” from Rule 19, SCRPC.

Rule 19, SCRPC provides:

A person who is subject to service of process and whose joinder will not deprive the court of jurisdiction over the subject matter of the action shall be joined as a party in the action if (1) in his absence complete relief cannot be accorded among those already parties, or (2) he claims an interest relating to the subject of the action and is so situated that the disposition of the action in his absence may (i) as a practical matter impair or impede his ability to protect that interest or (ii) leave any of the persons already parties subject to a substantial risk of incurring double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent obligations by reason of his claimed interest.

S.C. Code § 6-29-1145(A) provides:

In an application for a permit, the local planning agency must inquire in the application or by written instructions to an applicant whether the tract or parcel of

land is restricted by any recorded covenant that is contrary to, conflicts with, or prohibits the permitted activity.

S.C. Code § 6-29-1145(B) prohibits the Town of Blythewood from issuing the development permit if the permit would conflict with an applicable restrictive covenant. Thus, the Town of Blythewood is an indispensable party under subpart 2 of Rule 19. S.C. Code § 6-29-1145(A) requires the Town of Blythewood to claim an interest in determining whether the Greenway Covenant is enforceable against Appellant. Appellant claims the Greenway Covenant is not enforceable by either Respondents or the Town of Blythewood for various reasons. (R. pp. 0051-0054)

The Supreme Court has also determined that a permittee is a necessary party to appeal. Spanish Wells Prop. Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Bd. of Adjustment of Town of Hilton Head Island, 295 S.C. 67, 68–69, 367 S.E.2d 160, 161 (1988). It is illogical to require Respondents to litigate the enforceability of the Greenway Covenant with the Town of Blythewood in a court and with Appellant in arbitration. The Town of Blythewood would not be bound or discharged from their duties under S.C. Code § 6-29-1145(A) if they were excluded from the instant action. S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. Hinson Family Holdings, LLC, 361 S.C. 649, 655, 606 S.E.2d 781, 785 (2004). The Town of Blythewood would not be bound by any ruling from arbitration. The only way to get full relief in the instant action is include both Appellant and the Town of Blythewood in this single proceeding. Charleston Cty. Parents for Pub. Sch., Inc. v. Moseley, 343 S.C. 509, 514–15, 541 S.E.2d 533, 536 (2001).

### **III. THE FAA DOES NOT APPLY TO THE INSTANT ACTION.**

The Federal Arbitration Act (FAA), 9 U.S.C.A. § 1 *et seq.*, does not apply to the instant action under either arbitration agreement. Both HPAs are directly tied to the development and

rights of real estate which have been determined by our courts consistently as involving only intrastate commerce.

“The United States Supreme Court has held that the phrase ‘involving commerce’ is the same as ‘affecting commerce,’ which has been broadly interpreted to mean Congress intended to utilize its powers to regulate interstate commerce to its full extent.” *Blanton v. Stathos* 351 S.C. 534, 540 570 S.E.2d 565, 568 (Ct.App.2002). To ascertain whether a transaction involves commerce within the meaning of the FAA, the court must examine the agreement, the complaint, and the surrounding facts.” *Zabinski* at 594, 553 S.E.2d at 117. “Our courts consistently look to the essential character of the contract when applying the FAA.” *Thornton v. Trident Med. Ctr., LLC*, 357 S.C. 91, 96, 592 S.E.2d 50, 52 (Ct.App.2003).

The South Carolina Supreme Court and this Court have steadfastly ruled that the purchase of a constructed house within South Carolina’s borders is “the quintessential example of a purely intrastate activity.” *Zabinski*, 346 S.C. at 595, 553 S.E.2d at 117–118. The Supreme Court reaffirmed this rule as recently as 2012. *Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc.*, 398 S.C. 447, 456, 730 S.E.2d 312, 316–17 (2012). In *Bradley*, the Supreme Court referred back to *Mathews v. Fluor Corp.*, 312 S.C. 404, 440 S.E.2d 880 (1994), *overruled on other grounds by* *Munoz v. Green Tree Financial Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 539 n. 3, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 n. 3 (2001). In both *Bradley* and *Mathews*, the South Carolina Supreme Court reiterated that the presence of out of state parties or use of materials from outside of South Carolina was irrelevant to the determination of the “inherently intrastate” nature of purchasing a constructed house.

Appellant’s appeal to the FAA is futile.

#### IV. THE TRIAL COURT RULED CORRECTLY REGARDLESS OF WHICH STATUTORY SCHEME APPLIES.

The trial court was correct under either FAA or the SCUAA. It does not matter whether the FAA or the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act (SCUAA), S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10, *et. seq.* applies. “Appellate courts recognize—or at least they should recognize—an overriding rule of civil procedure which says: whatever doesn't make any difference, doesn't matter.” McCall v. Finley, 294 S.C. 1, 4, 362 S.E.2d 26, 28 (Ct. App. 1987).

The application of the FAA rather than the SCUAA, to the instant action does not change the outcome. The issues in a case must fall within the purview of the arbitration agreement for the FAA to apply. Adkins v. Labor Ready, Inc., 303 F.3d 496, 500 (4th Cir. 2002); United States v. Bankers Ins. Co., 245 F.3d 315, 319 (4th Cir. 2001) There still must be an underlying agreement between the parties to arbitrate.” Arrants v. Buck, 130 F.3d 636, 640 (4th Cir.1997). Whether a party agreed to arbitrate a particular dispute is a question of state law governing contract formation. First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan, 514 U.S. 938, 944 (1995). A court may not, then, in assessing the rights of litigants to enforce an arbitration agreement, construe that agreement in a manner different from that in which it otherwise construes non-arbitration agreements under state law. Perry v. Thomas, *supra*. Thus, generally applicable contract defenses may be applied to invalidate arbitration agreements without contravening the FAA. Doctor's Assocs., Inc. v. Casarotto, 517 U.S. 681, 687 (1996). This includes determining the full scope of the contract and its applicability to the instant action.

As previously set forth herein, the trial court correctly held the arbitration agreements within the HPA and the covenants did not apply to the instant action. “The law in this state regarding the construction and interpretation of contracts is well settled.” Lee v. Univ. of S.C., 407 S.C. 512, 517, 757 S.E.2d 394, 397 (2014) The interpretation of an unambiguous contract is a

question of law. Bennett & Bennett Constr., Inc. v. Auto Owners Ins. Co., 405 S.C. 1, 4, 747 S.E.2d 426, 427 (2013). “If a contract's language is plain, unambiguous, and capable of only one reasonable interpretation, no construction is required and its language determines the instrument's force and effect.” Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries v. Outparcel Assocs., LLC, 374 S.C. 483, 499, 649 S.E.2d 494, 502 (Ct. App. 2007). “In construing a contract, it is axiomatic that the main concern of the court is to ascertain and give effect to the intention of the parties.” D.A. Davis Constr. Co. v. Palmetto Props., Inc., 281 S.C. 415, 418, 315 S.E.2d 370, 372 (1984). A court is “without authority to alter an unambiguous contract by construction or to make new contracts for the parties.” First S. Bank v. Rosenberg, 418 S.C. 170, 180, 790 S.E.2d 919, 925 (Ct. App. 2016); S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. M & T Enters. of Mt. Pleasant, LLC, 379 S.C. 645, 655, 667 S.E.2d 7, 13 (Ct. App. 2008).

The trial court correctly ruled that the parties did not agree in the HPA to arbitrate the instant action, and this action is exempt from arbitration provided under the restrictive covenants. The Appellant's interpretation of either of these agreements would require a rewriting of clear terms like “property” under the HPA and “indispensable party” under the covenants.

## CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, this Court should DENY the appeal of the Appellants.

THE LAW OFFICES OF JASON E. TAYLOR, P.C.



\_\_\_\_\_  
Brian C. Gambrell (SC Bar # 68253)

2000 Park Street, Suite 102

Columbia, SC 29201

Telephone: (800) 351-3008

Facsimile: (803) 610-1931

[bgambrell@jasonetaylor.com](mailto:bgambrell@jasonetaylor.com)

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 15 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

M. Alan Peace, Esq.  
Harrell, Martin & Peace, P.A.  
135 Columbia Avenue  
P.O. Box 1000  
Chapin, South Carolina 29036  
(803) 345-3353  
(803) 298-2121 (Direct Fax)  
[apeace@hmp-law.com](mailto:apeace@hmp-law.com)

Attorneys for Respondents James R. Zedosky, Lenore K. Zedosky, Douglas Shea, and Sally Shea